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1A CARTA PERDENTE
Diplomatic Memoires of K.F. Mcellhausen
25 July 19L3 - 2 May 19L5

EPILOGUB
The Capitulation

W EDITFD BY VIRGINIO RUSGCA
1

l (Beginning Page L39)

|

FPor the first time a complete reconstruction has been made, bit by
i bit, of the complex machinery of the German surrender in Italy. This re-
i construction, which is strictly faithful to fact, and is ocarefully doou-

mented, is the result of lengthy consultations with the partioipants.
Many difficulties had to be overcome to obtain the information necessary
to create a true picture of the moving story of the events that preceded
the autumn of 'LlL, up to the final surrender, when at noon on the 2nd of

i May 1545, the German forces in Italy ceased fighting.

1‘ In this book I have tried to desoribe the principal events that took
‘1 place in Italy during the period of the German occupation; events that for
;l the most part I personally observed. At the time of the surrender I was
no loenger in Italy. For the reasons stated in the preceding chapter I

i had been sent on a special mission to the Iberisn Peninsula. I was not,

il therefore, present at the mestings that led to the capitulation.

‘ later, howsver, I had the opportunity of talking with the actors

: in the last scene of the drams of the Axis, from whom I learned the details
| ‘ of the arrangements of the meetings.

t
Iat us review the preliminary events.
N The idea of contacting the Allies was first considered by the Ger-
l mans in the autumn of 'li. At Bagni de Lucca, where Kesselring had his
g i
R
& |
ry
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. OHQ at that time,Wolff approached General of Aviation Ritter con Pohl.

It was & very vague feeler. Wolff did not wigh to start an argument or
to frankly unmask his thoughts or intentions. The point of departure for
attacking tha question was that of the recent reverses sufferod by the
German Armies.

n Necember of 'Lk, Wolff for the second time made knom his senti-
ments to Fahni this took place at the Villa Bessana, where Rahn and his
wife had been hosts to Wolff after the bombing of thevilla Bassetti.

In the ast as in the West naw and always more ssrious reverses
struck the Reich. The secret weapcns that had been promised for so long
s time had not yst appeared. It was already rumored that Hitler had lost
his mind, The Terman forces in Italy, short of gascline, weapons, muni-
tions, means of transport, and wthout air cover, were coping with an
Allied advance. The (ermans no longer possessed air combat strength and
the enemy had control of the air wdthout opposition. Demoralisation was
growing among the troops. Kesselring himself, who was noted for his tena-
city and ability in defensive warfare, admitted that it would be diffioult
indeed to hold back the British and Americans when these should decide to
take the offensive. If the German resistance became desperate, it might
‘ possibly prolong the war several weeks and even several months; but as re-
| gards the final result it was no longer possible to murse illusions. The
. planned attack in the Ardennes would not be able to rewerse the positions.
1 Rahn, # * # % # agreed with Wolff in judging that there was no possi-

]
i
‘ bility of Gersany continuing to £ight and that it was imperative that every
effort should be made to stop & last useless saorifice of human life. On

| the political side the Ambassador saw no possibility of a rupture in the
1 i opposite party while the war lasted.

_re-
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Nevertheless no decisions were reached and it was sgreed that they

would await & more propitious moment «
e
mmanicated with the Lieutenant

In January of 19L5, Beron Parrilli ool
£ the Reichssicherheits-

of the S5, Ouido Zimmer, head of the IV Office o
hauptamt of Milan (CI0) that he had & means of contacting the Anglo-

Americans through gwitgerland, The motive impelling Parrilli to take this
may be found in his desire to prevent the Jemans accomplishing thelr

step
and factories of northern Ttaly.

planned destructicn of the power plants

Yor the same reasons Cardinal Schuster had served as intemediary

between the Italian Partisans and the Qermans.

In Pebruary Parrilli cronsed the border into switserland and oon-

tacted his friend Prof. Max Fusmsnn, & Swiss national.
in addition to the humane motive, was desirous
system, which were of parti-

Husmann, of preserv-

ing the Port of Genoa and the Italian railwey

cular interest to the Swiss ecONoOny.

Rusmann undertook to make all the arrengements, and called in

of the heads of the Swias intelligence service, who was

¥ajor Waibel, one
He requested Waibel to give him all poseible

a friend of long standing.
help in a very difficult situation.

waibel got in touch with Nr. Allen W.

of Roosevelt in Switgerland and hesd of the Office of Strategic Services

operating in the territory of the Confederacy.
project was worthy of consideration and decided

Dalles, personal representative

Dulles saw that the
to give a hearing to Parrilli.
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In the first mesting of Americans, Swiss, and Italians, Dulles daid

not appear, but had himself represented by his secretary Gero von Gaevernits.
Gavernits asked for the names of the Germans with vhom it would be

possible to establish contact.
The first names given by Parrilli did not impress Dulles' secrstary.
He, howaver, evinced more interest when Parrilli mentioned the name of
Dollmann.
Parrilli had not yet gotten in touch with Dollmann in regard to the
matter, but from his personal knowledge of the man he knew Dollmann would
be interested in a negotiation of this kind. Besides, Parrilli was aware
of the fact that Dollmann had favorably received a letter from Captain
Ghisetti, who, in the name of cardinal Schuster, asked him to do all in
his power to prevent the destruction of Northern Italy.
AR
On his return from Switgzerland, on the 1lst of March, Parrilli had
s meeting with Dollmann in Milan in Zimmer 's apartment.
After the loas of Rome, Nollmann was appointed 1iaiscn between
Kessellring and Wolffj; although he had lost some standing, he was still
of importance. He was living at Reggio, where, in addition to aocomplish-
ing his lisison tasks, he hag tried to act as msdiatcr betwsen the Wehrmacht
and the Partisans, at least in the sector controlled by his office.

With the greatest enthusiasm Dollmann accepted the proposal of meet-

ing Roosevelt's representative. He, at first, thought that the Amerioans
ware desirous of meeting the Germans because they had finally realised

that destroying Germany meant opening the door of Purope to Russia.
Parrilli managed to avoid the subject; he wanted s all costs to

establish contact between the Americans and the Qermans.
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When Wolff was informed by Nollman of the opportunity that had pre-
dented itself, he kept tha ball on the bounce. The invitation ocame at the
right moment., He asked his collaborators to go as Qickly as possible to
Switserland to ses what the Americans wanted.

On the 3rd of March Parrilli, Dollmann, and Zimmer presented thon-
selves at the Swigs border. Parrilli crossed, giving the prearranged pass-
word, "Plerluigi”. Dollmann and Zimmar managed to enter Switsepland with
the help of Waibel, who had given special instructions to the frontier guard,

An imnediate meeting with Dulles and Gaevernity was impossible as,
for the time being, they were not available. Parrilli took the inisiative
in presenting Husmann to theGermans as a representétive having the confi-
dence of Nulles.

The conference between Rusmann and Dollmann Opened on a classiocal
argument. Dollmann talked of the necessity of saving Europe from Bolshe-
viem, expressing surprise that the Allies had not Yot thought of uniting
with the Germans in an anti-Russian crusade,

R

Attacking the subject directly, Husmann announced to Nollman that
the Allies were prepared to contend with any desperate last stand of the
Germans, but that it would not be worth while for Germany to ontinue
fighting because there was no chance of a rupture between the Anglo-
Americans and the Russians, at any rate while militanr operetions against
the Reich continued. There remained only one way open to the Gerumans:
that of shortening the wmar by the capitulation of the German troops in
Ttaly opposing theAnglo-Americans.

A surrender of this kind would be hailed as a patriotic gesture
(1ike that made the 20th of July 194k by the Generals Witsleben, Beck end

o o
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others) and a clever political move that theQermans would be very wrong not
to make.

At this point Nollman, 1ocutor wanted much

and oifered 114¢1s, jumped to his feet,
£ re? That I should

ing, "“Indeed what do you expsct o

Husmann replied that he did not expect anything but that he con~
petrayal" and wraltor" were not pertinsnt) that the
nd respected an honest man who would help in ending the
as they had proven in the cass of pedoglio, and of

realising that his inter
indignant and red
betray my ocountry?"

in the face, say=

sidared the words
Allies recognized &
slaughter of warfare,
Grandi, and of Mannerheim.

It was not tillthe afbernoon ©.
whom Dulles had de

¢ the 3rd of March that the group was

joined by Mre Paul Blum, Llegated as his representative at
this first meeting.

Blum, having been requested by Russann to expreas his opinion to the

perate in bringing the war to an end and avoid-
, said (in French), "Tre material and
has been 80 great that the Allies
resonstruction. Any one

is a man of good will."

@germans who were ready b0 000
g the ugeless waste of human life
caused by this war in Furope
f every man of good will for the

in|
morel damage
will have need 0.

who helps to shorten the
At the end of the meeting,

var will have proven that he
Nollmann noted down succinctly the Ameri-
can ideas as follows!

No power in the world will be able to separate the Anglo-

1.

Amerioans from the Russians.

2. Qermany had
3. The Allies would
or of Himmler.

1ost the war.

not have dealt with rsprasmtatives of Hitler
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L. In this contact being made betwsen the Allies and the Germans,
the discussions oould only deal with the Allied Zone,

S. That the only thing that was left for an honest German to do,
wag, in the interest of the German people, to help shorten the
war in every possible way, which, if it were oarried on would
involve theGerman nation in an inoredible struggle.

HIHEHE

The second meeting between the Qermans and the Americans took place
at Zurich. In addition to Dollmann and Zimmler, Wolff and his aide, Wenner,
Were present.

Tha group was received at the Swiss frontier by Parrilli, Husmann,
and a representative of Major waibel.

The 1l1legal crossings of the Swiss border by the German Army officers,
which was aggravated by the fact that they belonged to the S3, was due
8olely to the personal initiative of waibel,

The SwissGovernment was not aware of this infraction of theSwiss laws,
this breach of Swiass neutrality.

Husmann and Waibel had taken the initiative at their own risk and
peril. The successful ending justified their deed and merited the gratitude
of theGovernment of the Confederation,

During the journey from the frontier to Zurich, Husmann retired alone
with Wolff to a first class reserved compartment. There they had a oconfer-
ence that lasted not less than seven houre,

Husmann began his talk with a question that apparently had no refer-
ence to the subject but which served as a basis for his argument. He asked
Wolff if he, in his position of great responsibility had evern had occasion
to discuss problems with leaders of industry, of finance, of science, and
if he had ever:: 1istened to the briefs of eminent jurists. Wolff replied
that he had not.

06/ -0
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"That is a pity", observed Husmann, "bacause with our eyes we see
only a part of our surroundings. Roosevelt, for example, in addition to
his regular diplomatic and military intelligence services, has the habit
of aending his personal friends to foreign countries as observers. (Con-
sider Dulles, for oxample, who is not Ambassador in Berne, and does not
aven balong to thedplomatic Corps, but 15 cus of lhe leading lawyers in
America; he now finds himself in Switserland as observer and personal re-
presentative of the President of the United States. He reports d rectly
to Roosevelt and is responsible to Rooseveit only.

Husmann spoke at length about Roosevelt as a man and as a statesman,
and presented him as the personification of the American people. He re-
marked that in time of wWAr even democracies became, in a sense,dictator-
ships. With the substantial difference that, however, the responsible
chiefs are always aware that they muat render &ccount to parliament of
their actions and decisions. FRven in time of war,in democratic govern-
ments there may bs elactions and laws passed by parliament, while dictators,
being unreachable and uncontrolled, give agcount of their actions to no one
and in that way the possibility of going sstray is increased considerably.

Wolff listened with attention.

Proceeding with his theme Rusmann spoke enthusiastically of the
British Bapire and of Churchill and then also of Russia andStalin. He
then pointed out to Wolff the differsnce between realism in politics and
8 moralsense in a private individual. He made & special effort to clarify
the differences between Churchill and Roosevelt on the one hand and Stal in
on the other, in regard to the interests that united them.

& 035-0
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nThe Anglo-Saxons', he said, "are agoustomed to solve diffiault
problems one after the other and until they have disposed of the principal
oroblem, they do not allow thelir attention to be distrected by secondary
or trivial matters. While theQermans were trying to oreate the nillenivum
in germany, Churchill limited his efforts to trying to assure peace for
20 or 30 years. In the destiny of the individualas in the destiny of na-
tions, unforeseen factors ocour such as the inordinate ambition to wish to
plan the course of the centuries."

Wolff interrupted, "You have talked much of Roosevelt, Churchill,
Stalin, and their people. What, now, do you think of Hitler? Is it in-
tentionsl that you hava -avoided speaking of him?®

Husmann replied in the negative and added that every mén was guided
4in his sctions by thres fundamental factors: reason, sentiment and con-
science.

consoience is not born of instinct, it is a complex that is greatly
influenced by atavism and by education. Using this as an example, he de-
monstrated that sensibility and conscience were very little develcped in
Hitler.

uRut, Hitler does not even use reason in his present way of acting
and thinking. He belongs to the category of the possessed."

A long discussion resulted. Husmann demonstrated that Hitler was
dominated by an obsession, while Stalin had to be credited with at the
least an absolutely rationalistic nmentality. mn, for instance, Roosevelt
informed Stalin thatCongress, the Genate and even the American people,
would never accept the alliance with an atheist and organiser of world
revolution, Stalin did not hesitate to re-establish the Church in a few
weeks, to wips out the"Komintern", and to establish & new national anthem.
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Hitler, instead, continued quarrelling with the churches, closing
places of culture, persecuting religion. He continually attacked the Jews
of America and Mgland, and tirelessly pushed the dispersal and extermination
of thogse in Murops. This was the essential difference betwsen Stalin and
Hitler: one wan was & political realist, the olher a mudman with an idea-
logiocal complex.

Continuing, Husmann followsd and pictured the developments of the war
up to the time thatChurchill himself had admitted that the situation of the
Allies was notably better because of the inexcusable errors committed by
Hitler. If one considered events objectively, one had to admit that the
United States Aid not enter into the war of their own fres will. Roosevelt
indisputably deserves the credit of having foreseen the inevitability of
intervention on the part of his country. Also at the very beginning the
President had made every effort to avoid war. Then, due to events he had
heen campelled to help "ngland. In the final analysis, however, it was not
Roosevelt who decided the intervention of the United States, but the in-
credible deed of the Japanese, who, with the methods of gangsters and the
advantage of a military surprise, thought that they could in one night force
a grest nation to bend the knee.

Had Hitler andRibbentrop influenced the Japaness to strike and act
in this manner? At any rate, the Japanese, through Pearl Harbor, suoceeded
in one night in achleving a result that probably could not have been socom-
plished in many months, with millions spent in propaganda, namely, the fu-
sion of the American people into a single block facing the problems of the war.

Husmann continued. On the other hand, in the long years of fighting,
years that are the bloodiest in the history of the world, the opposing forces
of theGermans and the Russians succeeded in doing nothing more than slapping
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each other in the face. The lossas of theRussians have baen {mmense,both
in actual combat and as a result of the occupation of vast nections of the

goviet territories by theGemans. But the saorifices of the Russians gave

the Anglo-Saxons the time necessury W Oveswid thelr criticel situation

and their enforoed conduct of the war on & defensive basis. Now, in the
last phase of the conflict, they have reached the Rhine with a staggering
advantage both in men and material. The preparations were long and diffi-
oult but once again the offect will be cataclysmic.

Hitler frequently spoke of Providence. It does nd matter what you
call it -- Omnipotence, God, or Providence. But if you observe the develop-
ments of the last years rebrospectively, you can readily see that it was
not the will of Providence to guide Hitler to victory.

It is evident that the German Army,created from an impoverished

people by a fanatic 1ike Hitler, was able to enormously weaken the Russian
foroes, but it is also apparent that the Stalin of today is not the same

as at the beginning of the war, and likewdse that the Bolshevism of today
is not the same as that of before the war."

Wolff had listened attentively to Husmann's A scourse. He began to
talk himself, recalling the years of his youth, his dispair for Germany and
for her future as & nation, torn apart by a dosen different political parties,
all striving against one another, and how in his desire to find some means

of a rebirth, he beocame interested in and made the acquaintance of Hitler,
whose 1ife had always been & very sinple one, but who had made the mistake
of surrounding himself with incapable assistants.
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Wolff continued, outlining the character of some of these collabora-

tors: GQoering, for example, with his bombast, his vanity, his luxury, was

a mare shell. The judgment that he formed of Ribbentxop, weighing the

political and diplomatic quslities of the Minister of Foreign Affairs of
Ha andad with ths question, "Why

R

the Third Reich, was even more regative.

doss the world hate Hitler?"
Husmann replied, "Even in private 1ife a failure is ofiticized and

censured; even by associates and friends, while success provokes the ad-

miration of everybody. The greater the position of a man, the more he is

e BB TR ST

in the public eye, correspondingly the more severs willthe critics be. If
Hitler had achieved suocess, many things would have been overlooked, and any
picoadillos would have been submerged in the tide of admiration. But the
will of Providence, the decline of (erman power, Hitler's own mistakes, in-
dicated clearly that from failure to failure, the end must be near. Horrible

T P

desds have besn unveiled to the world that called down on him universal exe-
g cration. The destiny of Hitler is already formed -- the molds are fixed.
' To continue the war would mean only turning the German cities into slaughter

houses and cutting short the existance of thousanda."
nBut", said Wolff, "the Allies wish to destroy theGerman people.”

| Husmann countered, "It is not possible to destroy a peopls. FEven Hitler
did not succeed in exteminating the Hebrews. One can wips out a caste. You

and I l1ived in the times of William II. That era passad with the first World

War. You and I lived in the times of the Csar, and in the Russian Revolution

R princes and grand dukes disappeared. But the Russien and German people still

: remain, And after this war the ruling class in Germany will be wiped out,

] but a nation of 80 million people camnot be wiped out. Not the Allies, but

i the Germans themselves, in obstinately insisting on fighting this foolish

and hopeless war to the bitter end, can destroy their people and their country.

i
N ¥
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The longer the conflict lasts the greater will be the misery, the greater
the possibility of famine."
} "Prom what you have told me", replisd Wolff, "I must believe that you
have an exact understanding of the psychology of German officers. Add to
that the military truining ubey iwve received. The vesult is that the very
foundations of our existence sre obedience and loyalty to our oaths. For
these principles we can die, but we cannot hreak thsm and continue to live."

uoes the principle of obedience prevent your thinking?" asked Hus-

T

mann. In addition to obedience, ought not those who find themselwes in

high places reflect on the orders they are about to issue? You have taken
; an ocath of loyalty to Hitler. But hasn't this same Hitler stated that any-

"J thing is just and right that is for the good of the (erman people? Isn't

] Hitler a symbol? Do you think you should keep your oath to a man when you

j personally are concerned that to contunue the war will result in ruin for

; theGerman poeple? The generals who organized the plot of July 20th were not

; bed Germans, but men who, having asen that the wap was lost, wanted toend it
as soon as possible for the good of the people and of the camtry. History
will judge them; they will be considered as herces and patriots, not as
traitors. Isn't this the confliot that is going on in your mind, General
Wolff? 1In the bottom of your heart even you are convinced that the wr is
irremedisbly lost for Germany. When you return to Italy with what conviction,
| with what justification can you issue orders to your soldiers to fignt and

: die for a lost causei"

Wolff asked Husmann to leave him alone for a while. Snow had blocked

the line and at Goscheners the train had to come to a halt.
After a half hour the conversation was resumed. Wolff asked Husmann
what grounds he thought would be acceptable for the opening of negotiations

with the Anglo-Americans.

! L]
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Husmann stipulated that the discussions must bs limited entirely to
military quastions, bacause if they went into political matters only the
great leaders of the Allies, Roosevelt, Stalin, and Churchill, caild make

the decision. The military surrender of a single sector, on ths other hand,

was quite within the competence of Genersl Eisenhower.
Wolff stated that neither Hitler nor Himmler knew of his journey to

Switserland., He himself had decided to take the step after hearing what
Dollmann had to say and after the talke he had had with Parilli at Fasano,

especially as he felt it was imperative that he personally should evaluate

the situation.
The discussion continued and Husmann asked Wolff the question which

initiated the final step: "Shall the greatest tragedy in Qerman history

take place without any German having the courage to act for the good of hu-
I am sure that you realisme that the back of the German people is

mani ty?
You,as wellas

brokén, and that nothing further can be hoped for from them.
Marshall Kesselring, command troops in a sector that is completely separate
from the other zonss of operation, and are therafore able to initiate, and
bring to a conclusion, & plan that willdirectly have its effect in shortening

the war, independently of the other organizations in the center of the Redch,
a plan that will have undoubted repercussions, on the other fronts. Under

these conditions everything seems to point to you as the man chosen for the
fulfillment of a mission that your people dan neither ignore nor forget."

The group took up their residence in Zurich in Husmann's house, where
They, however, hesitated

they had planned the meeting with the Americana.
He

to come at the last moment as Dulles' suspicions had been aroused.
thought that Wolff was acting as an agent of Himmler, and his conviction was

based on the latest information received by the Americans, according to which
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Kaltenbrunner was trying to contact the Allies in Switserland. It was
another example of the extraordinary suspicion of the Americans in regard
to every move undertaken by thegermans, which suspicion almost caused the
whole plan to fail. It was Husmann who, by exerting great preassure, finally
succeeded in inducing Dulles to receive Wolff.

This was not the only time the negotiationsnearly broke down for
several times they were in danger of shipwreok.

If this did not happen, it is thanks to Husmann, Waibel and Parrilli,
who, besides having to overcome certain technical obstacles, had to create
a basis of understanding, adjusted to the completely different mentalities
of the Americans and theQermans, differences that would have caused the break-
ing off of negotiations at the first disagreement or misunderstanding.

After introductions had been made, Husmann asked the following ques-
tions of Wolff: "General, as the result of our talk on the train are you
convinced thatGermany has definitely loat the war?"

‘Wolff: "Yes."

Husmann: "Did you also understand that we cannot discuss in Switser-
land any problems congerning the Reich, but only those affecting the zone of
opsrations in Italy?"

Wolff: “Yes.™

Husmann: "Twice you have formally assured me that your trip to
Switserland has been undertaken without the knowledge of Hitler and Himmler,

and that your presence here can in no way be considered as your being the
agent or representative of these two persons?"

Wolff: "Yes."

Husmann: "From our talkyour final conclusion was that the only pos-
sible thing was an unconditional surrender, as any other form of surrender
would bring the matter into the field of politics, and thereby of unsurmount-
able problems?"
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Wolff: "Yes."

Then Huemann added:
on to the whole Reich,
{ons would end in 30 seconds — am I right,

nIf, in spite of thig, you should attenpt to ex-
tend the present discussi 1t is just as well that you
should realize that these discuss

Mr, Tulles?"

mlles agreed, and Huamann, after & few words, withdrew and left the
German with the Americans. Their talk lasted more than an hour and Wolff
came out from it satisfied; and Nulles declared himself pleased with the

visitor.

The following day another meeting took place between the Germans and
theAmericans, at which the Swiss were also present .
Those participating were Wolff, Dollmann, Husmann, Waibel, and (aever-
nits. The problem of the Partisans was discussed and the proclamation was

drafted that would ha
The meeting broke up under the best auspices.

ve to be 1ssued at the time of the surrender.

R HHHHEE
114 returned to Italy

when Wolff, Dollmann, Wenner, Zimmer and Parri
1tenbrunner,

alized that Berlin suspected the negotiations bacause Ka

they re
had sent a telegram to Wolff forbidding contact with

in the name of Himmler,

theAllies and ordering the arrest of Parrilli.
ot worry Wolff too much. He knew he

Kaltenbrunner 's telegram did n
ing it appear &s an attempt

could justify his trip into switserland by mak:

at creating a rift in the enemy camp.
first trip of Dollmann, &t the request of Tulles, Parri and

and were allowed to go to Switserlands even far this
Partisans had served to obtain

After the

Usmaisni were set free,

Wolff had & reason, as the two chiefs of the
the 1iberstion of Col.Wunsche, ex-aide of Hitler, who was a prisoner of the

Allies.
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Tha transfer at that time of Kesselring from the Italimn to the Went-
arn Front came as a surprise to all.

The successor was not nmsmed, and Wolff wan no longer in a position to

treat with the Military Commander. Parrilli was asked to inform Dulles of

the new conditions that had arisen.
Parrilli sccepted this new miseion, in spite of the danger of being

machine gunned by the Allied Air Force, which almost incessantly patrolled
the road batween Milan and Chinsso, and also the danger he ran fromthe 31D

suspicions and surveillance because they could not understand how Wolff
could permit a men to wander freely about the frontier when Berlin had or-

dered his arrest.
Parrilli concluded his mission and on his return to Italy transmitted

the three following questions from Dulles to Wolff:
1. Had Wolff the suthority to act alone?
2, 1If, 8s a replacement to Kesselring a new commander should arrive,

could and would Wolff persuade him to act with him?

3. If the new commander was not disposed to act in collaboration,

would Wolff act against his orders?
Wolff told Parrilli that he was certain Kesselring would not return

to Ttaly and that the nams of the new commander was still unknown. He

stated, "Dulles may count on me whatever happens. It is my firm intent to

bring to fruition the plans arranged with Dulles the 8th of March in Zurich.

I hope to be able to convince the new comnander — and I have many arguments!’
Then before letting Parrilli leavs for Switgzerland he gave the orders

in his presence which countermanded the projected destruction in North Italy.
Parrilli, as soon as he reached Swiss territory, got in touch with

Rusmenn and reported the result of his mission.
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Husmann and Parrilli scted as intermediaries with the Americans and
had to use all their influence and their powsr of persuasion to convince
the Americans that Wolff had not changed any of his intentions. Dulles was
finally persuaded and went to the Allied Headquartaers in Prance to ask that
a military delegation be sent to Switmerland to treat with Wolff.

OGaevernits said to Husmann, "You ocan see, Professor, it is not easy
to start negotiations!"

The 15th of March Parrilli returned to Italy to inform Wolff from
Tulles that a military mission would coms from GHQ Caserta to Switserland.

It was Wolff this time who seemed to be in not too much of a hurry.
He had realiged that, contrary to his first summing up of the situation,
without the concurrances of the Army, it would be very diffiocult to accom-
plish the surrendrr.

General vonViettinghof, who was his friend, had been sppointed as
Kesselring's successor,and he hoped to readily associate him with the project.
But the newCommander in Chief had not yat arrived in Italy and he had not
been able to confer with him. He accepted, however, the 19th of March as
the date of the next meeting in Switgerland, at which he appeared accompanied
by Wenner and Zimmer.

On the date arranged the Germans and the Americans met at Ascona.
The tschnical preparation of the new meeting had been entrusted to Major
Waibel, who was absolutely trusted by theAmericans. The Americans, however,
being aware of their proximity to the Italian frontier and, therefore, to
theGerman troops, thought it wise to prepsre for any eventuality by having
machine guns in the garden and to keep & large bit of the lake under sur-

veillance.
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pefors the meeting Husmann and Parrilli had a talk with Wolff at Lugano.

Husmann wanted to talkwith Wolff befo
thought preaent in the statement of the German Qeneral.

re the meeting to olear up an

anbiguity that he
pulles had summoned the Allied military representat
by Wolff to parrilli; that in to say, that he

jves on the basis

of the affirmative reply given

would bring about the surrender ever against the willof theCommander in Chief

of theGerman Armed Forces in Ttaly. When Parril1li told Husmann that Wolff

would came on the 19th of larch, he had also told him that Wolff seemed to

inasmuch as he considerad it would be impossible to

have changed his mind,

act in opposition to thegerman military authority in Ttaly.

Husmann, fearing that Dulles, when confrontes with this reservation,

would oancel the masting, aesumed the ntponsibnity of not trensmitting this
part of Wolff's reply.

By meeting him at Lugano and by talking with him bafore he met the

Allies, he hoped to inform him of the state of affairs and to warn him that
a contradiction in his statement, in view of the suspicions of the Americans,

could be fatal to the whole outcome.

Wolff was able to prove to Husmannthat thare was no contradiction, but
He had said to parrilli,"Mulles can count on me

(Ich stehe zu Dulles mit und ohnen

only & misunierstanding.

with or without the German Commander . "
) Parrilli hed understood that the surrender

the spproval of the Cemmander of the

den deutschen Kommandanten.
could be accomplished with or without
German troops,and had so informedDullen, who, as a result of this communioca-
tion, had summoned the Allied Military Mission to Switserland. Wolff, in-
stead, had merely meant to reaffirm his loyalty to Dulles, but not that the
wurrender would be brought about against the wishes of theCommander of the
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Army. Through this misunderstanding the reason would mve vanished that

' had caused Dulles to summon the Anglo-American mission to switserland.

This would reawaken the doymant suspicions of ™ulles, who might have seen

in Wolff's words an expedient to gain time and confuse the situation.

It was agreed pebwanrmoLfr and Rusmann to presant the following pro-

posals to theAmericans, giving them a chance to choose vhichever they pre-
ferred:

1. If, in the final analysis, it was congidared sbaolutely Necessary,
Wolff would be willing bto try to bring about tha surrender by himeelf, but
he would explain the difficulties to be encountered.

2. It might be preferabls to await the arrival of Viettinghof and to

especislly in view of the friendship existing

e

persuade him to collaborate,
between Wolff and the new Commander in Chief. Wolff was almost certain that
he could favorably mnuonuvhttinghot.

3. Wolff would bs glad to go to Kesselring's new Headquarters on the

Western Front and sed if he could obtain his authorimation to mcocmplish the

surrender.

Having obtained Kesselring's authorization, it would be easy enough
to convince viettinghof, who, belng & nnon-political" general and a great
friend of Kesselring, would pru\-nbly 1isten most willingly to the SUgges-—
tions of theField Marshall.

Wolff stressed an additional possibility for the future, namely, that
in his talk with Kesselring he hoped to porsunda him to combine the surrender
of the Western Front with that of the Ttalisn Sector.

Busmann pornistod in warning Wolff of the necessity of comporting him-
self in such & manner as not to destroy Dullss! confidencej it was therefore

necessary that he present his decision as definite and irrevocsble, while

N ——
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putting in proper relief the fact that the removal of Kesselring had
oreated an entirely new and unforesean state of affairs.

Wolff for his part had 4nsisted on tha conditiona of surrender that
would be accorded his collaborators, particulerly theGenarals (among whom
was Qrasiani) who would have followad him. He wished to be asmrad by the
Alliss that they would bs agcorded honorable and chivalrous freatment. He
asked nothing for himself,but stated thut he could do nothing until he had
been given a formal assurance as to this matter.

At Ascona in a little villa belonging to the Americans there was held
a first conference hatween Wolff, Dulles and Qasvernttz: at a sscond con-
ference General Terence 3. Arey of the British Qenersl Staff, and (eneral
Lyman L. Lemnityer of theAme rican Army, were also present.

The two generals, with the aid of Waibel, had assumed in Switserland
the names of two sergeants in the American Army: Nicholason and MoNeeley.

TheSwiss government continued to the very end to remain in ths dark
in regard to all these events.

Turing the meeting, Husmann took Wenner into the garden to convince
him since he had been pointed out by 7immer as being the most sceptical.

Having also learned from 7immer that Wolff had brought important
doocuments with him, Husmann begged Wolff to turn timse over to the Allies
as a proof of his loyalty and good faith,

At the Ascons conference 14 was decided to let Wolff -go to Keasselring,
to endeavor to obtain his authorisation to accomplish the surrender, WolLff
had planned to leavs the next day and be baock within three days at the most.

Wenner remarked, "There is many & slip 'twixt the cup and the 1lip.”

The prophatic words of Wenner proved too truej Wolff ren into Aiffi-
culties on his trip. On the daté set for his return, that is the 24th of
March, he did not appear nor did he send any message.

b " R " -
eclassified in Part - Sanitized Copy Approved for Release 2012/06/01 : CIA-RDP82-00039R000100030035-0




. =

I
Declassified in Part - Sanitized Copy Approved for Release 2012/06/01 C\A—RDPSZ—OOOSQRO0100030035—0
E—_

Yo

S

22,

It was not till the 29th of March that Wolff returned to Italy. The
night before the Stanpartenfuhrer of thess, Rauff, notified Parrilli of
Wolff's return. Parrilli was able to convince Rauff that it was impsretive
that he go at once to Switserland to neraonally confirm tho news to Waibel
and Husmann.

Parrilli, with the consent of his friendn, tried in avary way to win
over to their plan the head of tha German Police for Lombardy and the Piemont,
for his attitude was visibly unfavorable to the negotiationsn.

#aibell profited by Rauff's visit to ask for the release of ' political
prisoners, to which Rauff agreed.

The 30th of March Wolff and Parrilli met at Fasano. Wolff reported
to Parrilli: "Kesselring, in spite of baing snowad under with work, re-
celved ma twice and listened with great interest. He,also, is of the
opinion that wa should enter into nagotiations with the Alliss, partiou-
Jarly as ha is certain we cannot resist on tho Western Front for more than
three, or at tha most, four weeks. Atthe and of this period thn raservos
will be exhaustad."

Kesselring had also spokean to Wolff concerning the issuance of & new
"Yersweiflungswaffe" (weapon of desperation) which wasexpectsd daily and
which was to be used on the Western Pront. Kesselring himself did not know
the exact nature of the weapon but theeffeots had been described to him aa
80 terrible that he had decided to send in his resignation rather than have
his name linked with such a weapon.

In his second talk with Wolff the Pield NMarshall was mora reserved,
saying that a surrender on tha Western Pront seemed impossible as he felt
he was not completely master of the situation.

Howsver, ha was not opnosed to such a step being taken by Viettinghof,

nor to Wolff's plan in general.
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While the talks were taking place with Kesselring, Wolff received
an urgent callfromBerlin, requesting him to explain his contact with the
Allies.

These contretemps had prevented Wolff meeting Vviettinghof. par-
rilli announced then to the head of the SS that he would not returm to
Ascona t111 he had been informed of the result of the masting with Viet-
tinghof. Zimmer had to go to Ascona to inform the American delegates of
what had happened and to announce the imminent arrival of Wolff and rar-
rilli. The last named had had the impression that, after his talk with
Hinmler, Wolff had become more cautious and was seeking to gain time.
Howswer, ha preferred to stay near Fasano, because he believed th.nt, per—
sonally he could influence theGerman General. On the othar hand, the
General considered it holpful to have Parrilli within reach,

The 3lst of March the meeting of Wolff and Viettinghof took place.
General R3ttiger, Chief of Staff of t Commander of the Jerman Forcas in
Italy, was also present.

The predictions of Wolff were fulfilled because both Rottiger and
Viettinghof announced that they favored a surrender. They, 1like Kessel-
ring, knew that the Allied offensive was in an advanced state of prepara-
tion,and that they did not have the means of opposing it far more than a
fow waeks. L e - B

Wolff informed them that he would go t: s:l:erlnnd where he would
definitely arrange for the surrender and that he would accept the date set
by Dulles: eight o'clock in the evening of April 2nd.

In the meanwhile Himmler, acting on & rumor that had reached him
from Italy, took Wolff's family under his "perasonal protection'.
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Himmler himself telephoned this decision to Wolff, warning him once
agsin not to leave the Italian sone.

Wolff said to Parrillis "I do not lack the courage to go to Switmer—
land: if necessary I would not hesitate to even sacrifice my family to the
cause. But 1 am certain that now that Himmler has spoken to me, that there
is already un individusl with a bullet ready for me. He may even be here
at GHQ, maybe on his way here. The and of the story would be a superb
funersl at the expense of the State. But my corpse would be of no use to
the Allies, nor, being dead, could I render any service to my paople. It
is impossible, therefore, for me to leave Fagano at this time. Go to
Dulles and ask if, instead of my coming, he will send an Allied Superior
officer to Fasano, have him lodged secretly, snd from here he can contact

OHQ in Caserta."

General Lemnitser inSwitzerland made the munter proposal, inview
of the impossibility of Wolff's coming, of sending plenipotentiaries across
the firing line. The passport to pass the Allied lLine was "Nuremberg".

The 5th of April Parrilli was presented to Viettinghof and réttiger.
At this meeting there was much talk of the weathar, but there were only
brief and vague allusions to the subject dear to Parrilli's heart.

™ a subsequent tete-a-tete Wolff informed Parrilli that viettinghof
demanded guarantees, The (exman Gommander in Chief wished to be certain
that the surrender would be sccomplished in such a way that history could
not some day cell him a traitor to his country.

Also Viettinghof asked to see the draft of the articles of surrender
befors authorising its signaturej in that way the plenipotentiaries dele-
gated to sign would only have to make one trip across the front lines.
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Zinmer was mant to transmitViettinghof's request to Husmann., The
8th of April Husmann and Zimmer were joinad by Parrilli, bearing a docu-
ment in which the (erman proposals were specifiad. The dooument was glven
to the Americans in Bern. Mulles and Gaovernits translated it and sent it
in code to the Allied Headquartarms in Caserta.
On his return to Fasano, Parrilli realimed that other delays threatened

to hinder tha negotiations; Viettinghof had pr tod another proposal,
namely, that the Allies should advance about 10 kilometers a day .

Viettinghof, according to Wolff, was profoundly upset by the informa-
tion received fromBerlin that the aituation was about to bs completely re-
versed and that Germany was assurad of victory. The Commander in Chief was
vacillating and did not want to lay down his arms until he had been con-
vinced that every last sacrifice of human 1ife had been proved to be futila.

Also Himmler had again called Wolff to Berlin.

Fearing the worst, Wolff thought it wiser to inform Himmler momewhat
of the state of affairs. Ha, therefore,wrote him a letter in which he in-
formed him of the necessity of finding a solution, based on a compromise,
before this became impossible due to Russian intervention.

The terms requested would include:

1. The avoidance of imprisorment for the German troops.

2. The granting of an honorable surrender.

3'. The unhampered withdrawal of the troops.

In his letter Wolff reiterated that he had aoted in the best inter-
ests of the German people. He stressed the importance of the fact that the
negotiations would preserve the troops, who by thus avolding capture on the
Southern Front, would beavailable later for keeping order in Germany, and
probably also to form a future nucleus of the S5 under aome other name.

He ended by asking Himmler to came to him to personally take cognigance of
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the situation, 88 he, Wolff, could no longer leave ItalY, in view of the
political developments.

This lettor was ment to Himmler by means of Nr, Hana Sayle, 8 trusted
friend of wolff, who was summonnd from Monnco for that purpose. Parrilll
stayed at Fasano to awalt Himmler's renly.

During those days Roomevelt's death was announced. The decease of
the Prasident of tho 'mited States had & particular bearing on the ponding
negotiations because thereby nulles lost his main supnort.

Himmler's answer to Wolff was prompt. t summoned him to appear in
Berlin 4{mmediately. Though Aoubtful of the outcoms, Wolff decided to obey.
Before leaving he gave Parrilli a folder containing his testament ¢

gy Will to be given to Nr. Milles by Baron Tuigl parrilli"

wIn the event that I do not return from Berlin:

wi, If 1 should lose my oost of Command, or should be imprisoned,
and thereby the plan to which I have agreed could not be broyght to frui-
tion, I beg tnat you will not let the consequences £all on the (Qerman
people nor on the German troops in Ttaly.

n2, If after my death my mewmory or my nonor should be attacked, I
veg that Wr. Tulles will rehabilitate it my making public the true reasons
and the humane ideals that were my motives, and to make 1t known that T did
not act for any gelfish reason, nor as & traitor, but with the hope and
conviction of seving the Qerman people a8 much as possible.

n3, After my death I beg Mr, Dulles, in remembrence of the ideal
for which I shall have diad, that he’will accord to the Qerman and Italian
troops honorable conditions of surrender.

wh. After my death, I bag Nr. Dulles to protect my two families,

as far as he is able, that they be not destroyed."
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Carrying Wolff's testament, Parrilli crossed the frontier once again
to bring the doocument and the news of Wolff's departure for Berlin to Hus-
mann and Waibel.

They were raceived by Dulles, but they thought 1t wiser not to speak
of Wolff's testament, either because of the effect on Dulles of the death
of President Roosevelt, his friend, or because they falt thut the newsa of
Wolff's departure for perlin would cause enough of an unfavorable {mpression.

Dulles took advantage of the meating to tell them thut the Russians
were opposed to the negotiations, of which fact Roosevelt had informed him
a few days before he died.

Meanwhile Wolff arrived in Berlin.

The 17th of April he hud a long talk with Himmler, which lasted from
two in the afternoon till one the following morning. After four hours
Kaltenbrunner joined them and remained till the end.

Bafore Kaltenbrunner appearerd, Wolff informed Himmler that if the
Germans had agreed to an {mmediate surrender to the Anglo-Americans, those
would not have been averse to continuing the war on the side of Qermany
against the Russians.

Himaler's answer was that he had burned the letter because it was so
compromis ing.

Himmler appeared to Wolff & broken man, devoid of all energy and will
power. Kaltenbrunner, on the other hand, seemed more aggressive and sus-
picious than ever. Nevertheless he did not seem to possess the power to
decide Wolff's fate, so Wolff decided on a bold move, turned to the attack
and charged that Xaltenbrunner's intelligence service was poor, and that
the accusations brought against him were frankly an offense and a rank
injustice.
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Finally Wolff agreed to go with Xaltenbrunner to Hitlar to explain
the facts and to ask him to judge them. Himmler preferred to absent him-
self from the conference with Hitler.

At five o'clock on tha 18th of April Kaltanbrunner and Wolff were
received by Hitlar. Hitler, even more than Himmler, had the appearance of
a finished man. He seemed suddenly to have agad by 20 years: stooped,
with trembline hands, pale face and eyes distraught, he scarcely seemed to
now what waa going on about him.

Hitler barely listened to the justification of Wolff; he interrupted
him almost immediately to lsunch an interminable monologue in which he al-
ternately talked of "resistance" and certainty that thers would be a split
between the Allies. He ended by charging Wolff to tell Viettinghof to de-
fend the Italian front with the greatest determimetion. The conference
ended thus. Wolff had bluffed and won.

T S 3

The 23rd of April Wolff returned to Switgzerland determined to sign
the surrender. He was accompanied by Wenner and by Viettinghof's delegate,
who possessed full powers, Lt. Col. Victor von Schweinitz.

Greatly to the surprise of the Germans, Nulles refused to receive them. R -
He had received instructions from Washington to break off negotiations.
Dulles was uncertain as to whether this was due to a veto imposed by the
Russians, or to the suspicions aroused by Wolff's journey to Berlin.

Waibel, Husmann and Parrilli made every possible effort to prevent
Dulles' letting the German delegation depart without accomplishing their
project, which the three had brought thus far through difficulties and
hindrances of every kind. Geaevernits, an American of Germaen origin, and,
therefors, the most capable of understanding the psychology of the group 1

\
\
i

lead by Wolff, took it upon himself to explain to Dulles the point of view

of the Qarmans and the Italilana. i
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Dulles let himself be convinced, and telegraphed to Caserta announc-
ing the arrival of the Qerman delegation in Switserland.

Most aptly a telegram came from Himmler to Wolff,forwarded by Zimmer
to Hussann, Himmler forbade Wolff for the nth timo to leave the Italian
Zone and ordared him to amploy every posoible means in combutting the of-
fensive launched by the Allies on the 1lst of April on the Italian Front.

It wan @ proof that Wolff was acting on his own initiative, and againot
tho will of Hitler.

Himmler's telogram had no affact on Wolff., Bofore leaving for
gwitzerlan! he had agreed with Tiettinghof, fottiger, Pohl and finally
with the Gauleiter Hofer, not to obey any further orders that Berlin might
{ssue oconcerning the Italian Zone.

The reply from Caserta to Nulles'! telegram was in the affirmative:
Alexander was still interested in the nagotistions and Dulles was re-
quested to hold the QGerman delegation pending further communications.

Husmann urged Wolff to leave for Ttaly and to announce the capitula-
tion, together with Viettinghof, without further loss of time. Wenner
could go to Caserta to sign the surrender, if he were given full powers,
together with Schweinits. It would only be necessary for Wollf to delegate
Wenner as his official representative.

Wolff asccepted the suggeation and left for Ttaly.

At Cernobbio he was surrounded by Pertisans and stopped. He suc—
ceeded finally in continuing the journey, thanks to Waibel, assisted by
the American Vice-Consul at lugano, ponald Jones, Sgt. Franco Livio of the
gwiss Intelligence Service, and of the Ttalian Doctors Peregrini and Ventura,
who possessed the oonfidence of the Italian C L N.
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Schweinits and Weaner left gwitserland the 28th of April and on the
29th signed the surrender at Caserta. They affixed their signatures with
the reservation that the surrender would be confirmed by Viettinghof and
Wolff. The confirmation was to reach the Americans not later than 12 on
the 2nd of Nay.

In the meanwhile the German Headquarters were transferrsd to Bolsano.
viettinghof was no longer in command because on tha 29th of April he wan
relieved.

With the shortening of the Linas on the Wentern Front, Kesselring
found that he was baing assigned a sector that included Bavaria, the South
Tyrol and the Italian Zone.

In place of Viettinghof, Kesselring named Generals Schulta and Went-
gel, who refused to listen to any talk of surrender. Rdttiger, who tempo-
rarily was taking Viettinghof's place, insisted with Schults and Wentzel
that they would have to recognise the signature of the surrender, as signsd
by Schweinitz and Wenner.

The Generals Herr and lemelsen, commanding respectively the 10th
and 14th Armored Forces, were of the same opinion as Rottiger.

As Schults and Wentsel were not disposed to agree, Rottiger, with
the approval of Wolff, had them arrested.

The arrest took place on the lst of May. The Qerman Military suthori-
ties had taken the irrevocabls decision to announce the cessation of firing
that night.

Gauleiter Hofer changed his mind at the last moment and informed
Headquarters of what was happening.
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Kaltenbrunner immediately sent into the South Tyrol a special force
of SS with the order to arrest all who had taken part in the capitulation.

But the envoys of Kaltenbrunner ovuld not accomplish this mission
due to the general confusicn, the rapid succesaion of events (among which
was the death of Hitlar), and above all due to the determination of the
leader of the group, Wolff himself, who was ready to anter the 1ists with
any one opposed to the execution of the capitulation.

The 2nd of May at L in the morning he had a last long talk on the
telephone with Kesselring.

Therield Marshall was still doubtful and sesmed recalcitrant, but,
in view of the general dissolution, and the fact that Viettinghof had been
officially representsd at Caserta, Kesselring finally bowad to the accom-
plished fact.

At 12 on the 2nd of May the Germans cessed firing. Schultz and Went-

z6l wore released and left for Germany, while Viettinghof reamssumed command

oted

un- of the Wehrmacht in Italy.

lof The Lth of May an Anglo-American Commission arrived inBolazano to take
over the government. The 1lLth of May the Alliel troops completed the occupa-

. tion of North Italy.

arms Thus was concluded the active phase of the German capitulation in Italy.

FHIHEHEHE
re
he I have written the facts as they were told to me by qualified and

authoritative sources.

The exactness of my version was confirmed by the Gemmans, where it
was possible for me to gather details concerning the reasons tmt impelled
the Germans to enter into negotiations with the Allies.
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It is still not clear for what reasons wolff and his group conducted
1long and dangerous disoussions during two months to finally conolude &n un-
condltional surrender, which could have been accomplisned with 2 very brief
exchange of views between the parties.

If it was merely to surrender without condi tions, the German troops
could have quietly awaited ths Allied offensive and then laid down their arms.

At Tlensburg, the gqovernor de Doenits, knowing that ths troops were
cut off in Norway and Denmark, and were in no position to resist, ended the
war with an unconditional surrender. There wers no negotiationa with the
Allies and the responsible commanders did not expose themselves to being
considered traitors.

Tt could be said that in Ttaly Wolff and his collsborstors sought
their own safeivy. The position held by Wolff and his renk in the 85 might
justify this observationeeecceree His responsibility as a war criminal re-
mains to be proven.

SR

If Wolff's actlion had been dictated purely from & selfish motive,
he might have asked for himself and his collaborators tha assurence of
several millions and & hospitable regsption in some far country that was
peaceful and neutral, to whichas a last mission, the Allies would have to
transport him. Unconditional surrender of the Ttalian Front was well worth
such & concession, and such & request would not have scandalised the secret

services of his adversaries.

To judge the results, the personal welfare of the negotiators of the
surrender must instead be put in the background. Wolff for three years has
been a prisoner of the Anglo-Americans, while his wife and family are in
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dire need, The post war adventures of Nollman have already been told: as
to Wenner, we may add that until a short time ago he also was deprived of
his liberty.
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